

المسبب Colletotrichum coccodes المسبب

لعفن الفاكهة (anthracnose) في البندورة باستخدام الأنف

الإلكتروني

إعداد شروق وائل شهوان إشراف د. نواف أبو خلف

قدمت هذه الأطروحة استكمالاً لمتطلبات الحصول على درجة الماجستير في التكنولوجيا الزراعية الحيوية

كليّة الدراسات العليا جامعة فلسطين التقنية – خضوري

حزيران - 2022 م



Detection of *Colletotrichum coccodes* causing anthracnose fruit rots in tomato using electronic

nose

By

Shorouq Wael Shahwan Supervisor

Dr. Nawaf Abu-Khalaf

This Study Was Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree of Agricultural Biotechnology

Faculty of Graduate Studies
Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie (PTUK)

June - 2022

Committee Decision

This Thesis Titled: Detection of *Colletotrichum coccodes* causing anthracnose fruit rots in tomato using electronic nose

Was successfully defended and approved on 15/06/2022

Examination committeeSignature-Dr. Nawaf Abu-Khalaf, (supervisor)------Assoc. Prof. / Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Technology,Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie (PTUK).

Prof. Hassan Abu-Qaoud, (external examiner) -----Prof. / Faculty of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine,
An-Najah National University.

Dr. Wafa' Masoud, (internal examiner)
 Assistant Prof. / Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Technology,
 Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie (PTUK).

Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis Titled: "Detection of *Colletotrichum coccodes* causing anthracnose fruit rots in tomato using electronic nose" is the product of my own efforts, except what has been referred to, and this thesis as a whole or any part of it has not been submitted as a requirement for attaining a degree or scientific or research title to any other educational or research institution.

الإقرار

أنا الموقع أدناه مقدم الرسالة التي تحمل العنوان:

" الكشف عن فطر Colletotrichum coccodes المسبب لعفن الفاكهة (anthracnose) في البندورة باستخدام الأنف الإلكتروني"

أقر بأن ما اشتملت عليه هذه الرسالة إنما هو نتاج جهدي الخاص، باستثناء ما تم الإشارة إليه حيثما ورد، وأنّ هذه الرسالة ككل، أو أي جزء منها لم يُقدم من قبل لنيل درجة أو

لقب علمي أو بحثي لدى مؤسسة تعليمية أو بحثية أخرى.

اسم الطالبة: شروق شهوان Name of Student: Shorouq Shahwan اسم الطالبة: شروق شهوان Signature:---- التوقيع: ----- التاريخ: ----- التاريخ: -----

Palestine Technical University – Kadoorie "Authorization Form"

I, Shorouq Wael Shahwan, authorize PTUK to supply copies of my Thesis to Libraries or Establishments or Individuals upon request, according to the PTUK regulations.

Signature:..... Date:....

جامعة فلسطين التقنية- خضوري

"نموذج تفويض"

أنا شروق وائل شهوان أفوض جامعة فلسطين التقنية – خضوري بتزويد نسخ من رسالتي للمكتبات أو المؤسسات أو الهيئات أو الأشخاص عند طلبهم حسب التعليمات النافذة في الجامعة.

التوقيع:..... التاريخ:....

Dedication

Firstly, I dedicate this achievement to my father's soul: Wael Khalif, whose words of encouragement did not leave me for a moment. Despite the absence of his body, his spirit is still present. Also, I would like to dedicate this work to my loving husband: Muhammad Shahwan for his overwhelming and endless support until the last moment. As well as my mother: Thikra Sleem my guiding angel, whom I would not have reached this level without her presence in my life, to the light of my life, my daughters: Meso and Hamsa. Last but not least, to my dear sisters: Shaza, Sherin, Rana, and Bessan, and my loving brother: Mohammad for every kind and encouraging word.

Moreover, I would like to dedicate this also to my supervisor Dr. Nawaf Abu-Khalaf for his continued guidance and support.

Acknowledgment

I thank Allah, my creator and the source of my strength, inspiration, and success in all aspects of my life.

Also, I would like to thank my supervisor: Dr. Nawaf Abu Khalaf, for the knowledge he provided to me. His positive feedback pushed me forward and strengthened my determination to succeed and progress.

Moreover, I thank my dearest friend: Sajida Owaisat, for the enjoyable times. Her friendship was my strength in all the situations.

I'd not forget to thank my laboratory colleagues: Raghda and Samah, who stood with me at every work stage. Also, my friends: Elana, Hala, and Hoda, who made this period of my life unforgettable memory are not forgotten.

Furthermore, I thank my husband and family for their support, step by step and moment by moment, who did not allow me to collapse in the difficult times and brought out the best in me.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie (PTUK) for providing this master's program and all the academic staff for their endless knowledge.

Contents

Dedicationi
Acknowledgmentii
Tables vi
Figures vii
Abbreviationsx
Abstractxiii
Chapter One: Introduction1
1. Introduction2
1.1 Background2
1.2 Objectives
Chapter Two: Literature Review
2. Literature Review
2.1 Tomato crop importance and production5
2.2 <i>Colletotrichum coccodes (C. coccodes)</i> 5
2.3 Methods for plant disease detection7
2.3.1 Conventional methods7
2.3.2 Current methods
2.3.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method9
2.3.4 Detection of plant diseases using sensors
2.4 Electronic Nose (EN)11
2.4.1 Metal-oxide sensors (MOS)13
2.4.2 Electronic Nose (EN) applications14
2.4.3 EN advantages and limitations15
2.4.4 EN data analysis and pattern recognition16
2.4.5 Principal component analysis (PCA)

Chapter Three: Materials and Methods	19
3. Materials and Methods	20
3.1 Fungal method	20
3.1.1 Media preparation	20
3.1.2 Isolation and identification of the fungi	20
3.1.3 Morphological identification	21
3.1.4 Molecular identification	21
3.2 Prepare the <i>C.coccodes</i> suspension and tomato infection	25
3.3 Tomato samples sterilization and injection	25
3.4 Storage condition	26
3.5 EN measurement	26
3.6 EN data analysis	30
3.7 PCA analysis	30
Chapter Four: Results and Discussion	31
4. Results and Discussion	32
4.1 Identification of <i>C.coccodes</i> fungus	32
4.1.1 Morphological identification	32
4.1.2 Molecular identification using a PCR	34
4.1.3 PCA analysis	38
Chapter Five: Conclusion and Recommendations	15
	45
5. Conclusion and Recommendations	46
 Conclusion and Recommendations 5.1 Conclusion 	45 46 46
 5. Conclusion and Recommendations 5.1 Conclusion 5.2 Recommendations 	46 46 47
 5. Conclusion and Recommendations 5.1 Conclusion 5.2 Recommendations Chapter Six: الملخص 	46 46 47 48

Chapter Seven: References	
•	
References	

Tables

Table 1: List of primer sets used for C. coccodes identification.	24
Table 2: Metal-oxide sensors (MOSs) specifications used in electronic nose	
(Abu-Khalaf, 2021)	29

Figures

Figure 1: Conventional methods for the detection of a fungal pathogen (Ray et
<i>al.</i> , 2017)
Figure 2: Current fungal pathogen detection methods (Ray <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Figure 3: Similarities between the olfactory system and the EN technology (Karakaya <i>et al.</i> , 2020)
Figure 4: The working mechanism of metal-oxide sensor technology (Hsieh and
Yao, 2018)
Figure 5: An example of principal component analysis (PCA) for EN data (Park <i>et al.</i> , 2019)
Figure 6: Some tomato samples infected with <i>C. coccodes</i> 21
Figure 7: Tomato samples stored in an incubator; under fluorescent light and at 28°C26
Figure 8. A prototype electronic nose (EN) with eight metal-oxide
semiconductors (MOS) sensors
Figure 9: Steps for measuring samples (A-D) using electronic nose (EN)28
Figure 10: Morphological characteristics of <i>C. coccodes</i> . A: The conidia shape under the light microscope with 40X. B: The appressoria shape under the light microscope with 40X

Figure 14: Gel electrophoresis documented photos for the PCR products using the two specific primer sets (Cc1F1/Cc2R1, Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1).
Where lane 1 is a band with Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1 primer set, lane 2 is a negative control for Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1, lane 3 is a band with Cc1F1/Cc2R1 specific primer set, and lane 4 is a negative control for Cc1F1/Cc2R1. M is a 1 Kbp ladder as a molecular size marker.37

Figure 15: BLASTn similarity for the *C.coccode* isolate sequence identification.

Figure 17: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with	
C.coccodes on the fourth day of infection using electronic nose (E	'N).
The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance	39

- Figure 18: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the sixth day of infection using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance......40

Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Full Name
%	Percent
/ml	Per Millimeter
°C	Celcius Degree
μl	Microliter
μΜ	Micrometer
AFLP	Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms
ANN	Artificial Neural Networks
BLASTn	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool- Nucleotide
bp	Base pairs
C. coccodes	Colletotrichum coccodes
CA	Hierarchical Cluster Analysis
Cat #	Cataloge Number
cDNA strands	Complimentary DNA strands
cm	Centimeters
СР	Conducting Polymer
DDW	Double-Distilled Water
dH ₂ O	distilled water
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase free water	Deoxyribonuclease free water
DW	Distilled Water
EC	Electrochemical
EDTA-TBE	Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
e.g.	For Example
EN	Electronic Nose

ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
EN	Electronic Nose
et al.	And Others
etc	And The Rest
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization Statistics
g	Gram
GC-MS	Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry
ha	Hectare
hr	Hour
i.e	That Is
kbp	Kilobase-Pairs
LB	Lethal Bronzing Disease
LDA	Linear Discrimination Analysis
MgCl ₂	Magnesium Chloride
Mha	Million Hectares
min	Minutes
ml	Milliliter
mm	Millimeters
MOS	Metal-Oxide Sensors
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide Semiconductor Field-Effect
MOSTET	Transistor
MVDA	Multivariate Data Analysis
NaOCl	Sodium Hypochlorite
РСА	Principal Component Analysis
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PCs	Principal Components

PDA	Potato Dextrose Agar
PLS	Partial Least Squares
PLS-DA	Partial Least Squares-Discriminant Analysis
PN	Product Number
psi	Pound Per Square Inch
QCM	Quartz Crystal Microbalance
Taq-Man PCR	Quantitative Real-Time
TM	Trademark Symbol
RAPD	Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA
rpm	Round Per Minutes
sec	Seconds
ТМ	Trademarke
USDA	United State Department of Agriculture
UV	Ultraviolet
VCG	Vegetative Compatibility Group Analysis
VOCs	Volatile Organic Compounds

Abstract

Detection of *Colletotrichum coccodes* causing anthracnose fruit rots in tomato using electronic nose

Colletotrichum coccodes are the most known *Colletotrichum* isolates to be hard to control. Once the tomato gets infected with *C. coccodes*, the anthracnose develops within a few days. Therefore, early detection of the fungal infection is vital for successful prevention and effective treatment of the infected fields. This study aimed to employ the electronic nose (EN), with metal-oxide sensors (MOS), to sense the presence of *C. coccodes* on tomato fruits at different stages and concentrations.

Identification of *C. coccodes* was carried out using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), where the identification of *C. coccode* fungus was achieved using three different primer sets: ITS1F/ITS4, Cc1F1/Cc2R1, and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1. In which ITS1F/ITS4 was a general primer set for most *Ascomycetes* and *Basidiomycetes*. Cc1F1/Cc2R1 primer set was a specific primer to *Colletotrichum* spp., which gives a 447 bp product, and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1 was a unique primer to *C. coccodes*, which results in a 349 bp product. In addition, three homogeneous tomato samples were injected with three different concentrations: $30*10^3$, $30*10^4$ and $30*10^5$ conidial fungal suspension, three other tomatoes were used as negative controls, and all were measured using an EN device every two days for ten days.

Specific primers (ITS1F/ITS4, Cc1F1/Cc2R1, and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1) could recognize and specify *C. coccode* fungus using a suitable PCR program and sequencing.

The data acquired from the EN sensors were analyzed using principal component analysis (PCA). It was found that the EN device could sense pathogen occurrence at early stages, *i.e.* after two days of the infection, and before the appearance of any symptoms, where the PCA scores plot explained 100% of the total variance. In addition, the overall scores plot explained 100% of the total variance indicating the ability of EN to differentiate between different stages of infection duration (*i.e.* second, fourth, sixth, eighth, and tenth day). Moreover, the concentration of the infected samples was clearly differentiated on the sixth, eighth and tenth days.

Keywords: Electronic Nose, anthracnose fruit rots, *Colletotrichum coccodes,* multivariate data analysis.

Chapter One: Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

Solanum lycopersicum L. (Solanaceae family), artificially known as Tomato, is a major popular cultivated crop up to this moment. In the past decade, the production and cultivation of this crop have increased fivefold (Alkowni *et al.*, 2019). In Palestine, it is considered one of the most important crops in the fruit sector, in which the estimated planted area with tomatoes is about 1200 ha. Also, it constitutes about 1.5% of the total cultivated agricultural land in the country (Al-Tardeh and Iraki, 2013; Najjar, 2020).

However, this crop is vulnerable to several pathogenic microorganisms such as *Colletotrichum* spp., which is recorded as the eighth-most significant group of plant pathogenic fungi wild world, according to the perceived economic and scientific importance (Liu *et al.*, 2011; Dean *et al.*, 2012). These pathogenic fungi cause anthracnose and other diseases on the leaves, stems and fruits of several plants. These diseases include black dot, tuber blemish and foliar disease of potato. In addition to anthracnose on tomato fruits (Belov *et al.*, 2018). According to the United State Department of Agriculture (USDA) databases, *C. lycopersici* and *C. coccodes* were recorded as the most effective fungi affecting tomatoes. Furthermore, *C. coccodes* can affect 109 different plant species and even humans (Liu *et al.*, 2011; Testen and Miller, 2018).

Identification of a fungal pathogen can be achieved using numerous diagnostic and applicable techniques such as; isozyme analysis, vegetative compatibility group analysis (VCG) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Moreover, nucleic acid-based techniques such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) array technology have been

utilized for identification purposes and the gas sensor array technology (Ben-Daniel *et al.*, 2009; Narayanasamy, 2011; Abu-Khalaf *et al.*, 2018; Qneibi *et al.*, 2018; MacDougall *et al.*, 2022).

Over the past decades, electronic nose (EN) (which is a gas sensor) technology has achieved unlimited applications that targeted a wide range of study areas ranging from environmental monitoring to medical diagnostics and recently has appeared as an effective way to verify food spoilage (Concina *et al.*, 2009; Abu-Khalaf and Masoud, 2022). The discovery and improvements of new electronic and operating methods correlated with chemical detection of complex gas mixtures, which consist of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), are contributed to the progress in diagnostic techniques. In addition to automatic learning (*i.e.* artificial neural networks (ANN)), libraries and databases of disease references, data analysis programs and identification of disease biomarkers; these advances have brought considerable EN applications for detecting diseases related to different causes (biotic, abiotic and genetic) (Oates *et al.*, 2020; Najjar, 2020).

ENs consist of multiple sensor sets responsible for detecting many chemical components such as alcohol, ammonia or methane. Metal oxide semiconductor sensors (MOS) are one of the most commonly used sensors in ENs (Karakaya, Ulucan, and Turkan, 2020; Oates *et al.*, 2020).

1.2 Objectives

1. To detect C. coccodes in tomato using EN.

2. To differentiate between the different stages of *C. coccodes* in tomatoes using EN.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

2. Literature Review

2.1 Tomato crop importance and production

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum L.*), a *Solanaceae* family, originated in South America and is the second cultivated crop in the world after potato, according to the Food and Agriculture Organization Statistics (FAOSTAT). It has about 181 million tons of crop yields from 5 Mha. Tomato's major country producers are Turkey, Egypt, Italy, Spain, and Morocco in the Mediterranean (FAOSTAT, 2019). In Palestine, tomatoes are grown on an area of more than 1,200 hectares, constituting 1.5% of the total cultivated agricultural land in the West Bank, where the governorates of Jenin and Tubas are the largest tomatoes producers (Masri and Alkowni, 2021). Many pathogens alter the production of fresh and processed tomatoes, including fungi, bacteria, phytoplasmas, viruses and viroids (Panno *et al.*, 2021).

Tomato is more susceptible to many diseases due to their intensive selection and severe genetic bottlenecks, which arose from the low genetic diversity of cultivated tomatoes during evolution and domestication. Moreover, during the planting and post-harvest period, it can be affected by more than 200 diseases caused by various pathogens worldwide (Al-Tardeh and Iraki, 2013; Panno *et al.*, 2021).

One of the devastating fungal pathogens of tomatoes is *C. coccodes*, which Cause anthracnose on ripe fruits (Liu *et al.*, 2011).

2.2 Colletotrichum coccodes (C. coccodes)

Colletotrichum coccodes is a plant pathogenic fungus that has been reported worldwide in various hosts (Belov *et al.*, 2018). It is found mainly in the *Solanaceae* and *Cucurbitaceae*, especially damaging potatoes, tomatoes and other

Solanaceous weed species (Dauch *et al.*, 2003). *C. coccode* is variable in genetic terms (Ben-Daniel *et al.*, 2010). It is a potential biocontrol agent for *Abutilon theophrasti* (Cannon *et al.* 2007). This species colonizes the above-ground parts as well as the underground parts of the host plant. It was first described in 1833 on potato in Germany as *Chaetomium coccodes*. *Colletotrichum atramentarium* and *Colletotrichum phomoides* are synonyms to *C. coccodes* (Jamiolkowska *et al.*, 2018).

Colletotrichum pathogens are known as ammonium secretors. *C. coccodes* virulence is associated with the amount of ammonium secreted as measured in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* cv. *Motelle*) fruit tissue necrosis (Alkan *et al.*, 2009). In addition, it is an intracellular colonizer pathogen that commonly feeds on living host cells before turning into necrosis (Dauch, 2006).

Colonies of *C. coccodes* grown on PDA media are circular, initially white and becoming gray with age, forming black spots on agar. Also, these colonies have white, cottony sparse aerial mycelia and abundant, black sclerotia that are evenly distributed on the agar surface (Lees and Hilton, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2011). *C. coccode* has special straight conidia with sharp ends and is often slightly constricted in the central part. It is a post-harvest pathogen because of its latent disease initiated before harvest and becomes active in posterior times (Cannon *et al.*, 2007).

Once the tomato gets infected with *C. coccodes*, the anthracnose develops within a few days (Ben-Daniel *et al.*, 2009). Infection with *C. coccodes* usually occurs in the growing season, but symptoms and signs of infection are often expressed in relatively late stages. Therefore, early detection of fungal infection

is vital for successful prevention and effective treatment of the affected fields (Ingram *et al.*, 2011).

Symptoms first appear as small, circular spots on the skin, and later they develop dark spots, which are the fungal spore-producing bodies. At this point, the decay has penetrated deeply into the tomato pulp. Spotted fruits often rot totally due to the attack of secondary fungi through spots of anthracnose (Gleason and Edmunds, 2005).

There are no specific fungicides or even chemicals effective against C. *coccodes* in vitro. Moreover, there are no effective measures to control C. *coccodes* (Cullen *et al.*, 2002).

2.3 Methods for plant disease detection

Recognizing symptoms and early detection of pathogens are essential for successful disease management (Panno *et al.*, 2021). A wide range of conventional and current diagnostic methods are applied to identify and quantify fungal pathogens (isozyme analysis, vegetative compatibility group analysis (VCG) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)). In addition, nucleic acid-based diagnostic techniques, polymerase chain reaction (PCR), DNA array technology, and gas sensor array technology are also utilized (Narayanasamy, 2011; Abu-Khalaf and Masoud, 2022).

2.3.1 Conventional methods

Conventional methods depend on visual symptom interpretation or culturing and isozyme analysis to identify the pathogen (Figure 1). The conventional methods' accuracy and reliability rely mainly on the person's experience and skills. The diagnosis that requires culturing can be timeconsuming and impractical when aiming for rapid results (McCartney et al., 2003).



Figure 1: Conventional methods for the detection of a fungal pathogen (Ray et al., 2017).

2.3.2 Current methods

Current methods are categorized into direct and indirect techniques (Figure 2). In which direct methods depend on laboratory experiments, mainly ELISA and PCR. On the other hand, the indirect techniques are advanced and based on imaging tools integration. These techniques depend on the incorporation of sensors and smart systems on-site to provide a more precise and rapid disease detection method (Rizk, 2017).



Figure 2: Current fungal pathogen detection methods (Ray et al., 2017).

2.3.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a simple, rapid and sensitive technique where minute amounts of DNA are massively amplified by DNA polymerase into multiple copies using specific primer molecules (Schrader *et al.*, 2012; Garibyan and Avashia, 2013).

The amplification process is carried out through three stages that differ in temperature: the first stage is called denaturation, in which the DNA strands are separated by heating the PCR solution above the melting point of the target DNA. The second stage is called annealing, where the primers bind to the target DNA by lowering the temperature. The third stage is the extension that occurs by raising the temperature to allow the DNA polymerase to extend the primers (Garibyan and Avashia, 2013).

Molecular techniques have been adopted for their specificity and sensitive identification of large numbers of pathogens. In addition, the PCR method has relatively low operational costs and automatization. For instance, PCR and quantitative real-time (Taq-Man) PCR were used to detect and monitor *C. coccodes* on potato tubers and in soil using a specific set of primers (Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1) (Cullen *et al.*, 2002). Also, PCR-based techniques were used to detect *C. coccodes* on tomatoes and pepper infected artificially with the pathogen (Kim *et al.*, 2018).

Moreover, diagnostic molecular markers, generated from random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), were used in PCR to detect the presence of *C*. *coccodes* on the target *Abutilon theophrasti* weed species (Dauch *et al.*, 2003). Also, amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLP) were used for the genetic characterization of *Colletotrichum* pathogens (O'Neill *et al.*, 1997).

However, molecular methods have a few limitations, such as primers' design and validation, in which each primer set has to be appropriate to a single, specific target, and the necessity of a sampling protocol. Moreover, this analysis is a destructive one and the economic value of sampled materials may be impaired by the sampling procedure (Cellini *et al.*, 2017).

10

2.3.4 Detection of plant diseases using sensors

The cornerstone of plant pathology is defined by early detection, rapid, precise and inexpensive diagnoses, which become essential for emerging diseases that have unobserved initial symptoms but are hard to be faced afterward (Buja *et al.*, 2021). Analysis of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) is an indirect method for detecting plant pathogens, in which these chemicals are considered as a defense mechanism against pathogen attack, which is produced and released by plants (Scala *et al.*, 2013).

As a consequence of the pathogenic infections, plants release certain VOCs, as a signal of their healthy physiological state and are therefore available for non-invasive monitoring of plant diseases (Cellini *et al.*, 2016; Al-Ramahi *et al.*, 2019).

VOCs are detected by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) methods in a conventional way (Ewen *et al.*, 2004; Spadafora *et al.*, 2016; Abu-Khalaf and Haselmann, 2012), but they are complicated, time-consuming, expensive, massive, and need considerable practice for proper use (Sharma *et al.*, 2019).

Electronic nose (EN) appears to be the appropriate method for detecting VOCs among many alternatives as it is a fast, non-invasive, inexpensive, and easy method compared to GC-MS techniques option for many applications (Wilson, 2018).

2.4 Electronic Nose (EN)

EN is composed of an array of sensors that present different sensibilities to molecules belonging to several chemical classes. The electric signals from the sensors are elaborated to create a pattern corresponding to the gas composition (Cellini *et al.*, 2017). Multivariate data analysis (MVDA) can be used to identify and quantify the analyzed samples (Mudalal *et al.*, 2020; Zaid *et al.*, 2020; Masoud *et al.*, 2021). There are various techniques for MVDA (e.g., partial Least Square (PLS), principal component analysis (PCA) and artificial neural network (ANN)) (Abu-Khalaf and Bennedsen, 2004; Abu-Khalaf and Abu Rumaila, 2020; Taha and Abu-Khalaf, 2020).

Expansion of methodologies for disease detection using EN devices entails a comprehensive understanding of the host's physiology and metabolic pathways affected by disease processes, diverse mechanisms of disease caused by biotic and abiotic diseases, and abnormal VOCs chemical classes released due to pathogenic effects on host metabolic processes (Wilson, 2018). However, each VOC chemical has its superior quality and properties. Therefore, digital signatures of chemicals, which will be the input data for the EN instrument, are specific. The sensor array is responsible for recognizing target chemicals in the medium, where every single sensor is responsible for sensing a particular type of aroma (Szulczynski and Gebicki, 2017; Taha and Abu-Khalaf, 2020; Oates *et al.*, 2020).

EN distinguishes between various gases by simulating the human nose, mimicking the biological olfactory system, where odor receptor cells are replaced with gas sensors and sensing materials. ANN, computing algorithms, and data analysis applications replace the neural network and brain (Figure 3) (Oates *et al.*, 2020; Karakaya *et al.*, 2020; Abu-Khalaf, 2021; Al-Mahasneh *et al.*, 2021; Abu-Khalaf and Masoud, 2022).



Figure 3: Similarities between the olfactory system and the EN technology (Karakaya *et al.*, 2020).

Choosing the appropriate sensors for a specific task is a core factor in determining the applicability of the electronic nose (Szulczynski and Gebicki, 2017). Sensor types that can be used include metal oxide semiconductor (MOS), quartz crystal microbalance (QCM), metal oxide semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOSFET), electrochemical (EC) and conducting polymer (CP) (Sanaeifar *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.1 Metal-oxide sensors (MOS)

MOS is the most used sensor type in EN devices. This is due to its convenience for an extensive number of gases (Karakaya *et al.*, 2020; Zheng and Zhang, 2022). The MOS operating principle is based on the variation in the conductivity of the oxide when interacting with the gas and the change is generally proportional to the gas concentration (Figure 4) (Hsieh and Yao, 2018).



Figure 4: The working mechanism of metal-oxide sensor technology (Hsieh and Yao, 2018).

MOS are classified into two major groups according to their responses to various gases (Karakaya *et al.*, 2020). The first group is n-type. Its operational principle is based on the reactions between the oxygen molecules in the air and the sensor's surface. These reactions lead to the trapping of free electrons on the surface, resulting in potential intergranular barriers that prevent carrier movement, which produces large resistance regions. The second group is p-type. It reacts with oxidizing gases leading to electron removal and whole production (Kim and Lee, 2014).

2.4.2 Electronic Nose (EN) applications

EN portable system, combined with sensitive gas sensor arrays, is an innovative method that has some advantages over other technologies and addresses some challenges like field application (Cui *et al.*, 2018; Oates *et al.*, 2020). EN devices have been widely used since the 1980s by a wide range of governmental agencies and commercial industries from biological, agricultural, forestry, food, water industry, medicine, cosmetics, *etc.* One of the most significant applications of the EN that is prevalent among various industrial uses

is quality assurance and quality control (Wilson, 2018; Al-Ramahi *et al.*, 2019; Mudalal and Abu-Khalaf, 2021).

Three commercial ENs based on MOS technology (PEN3 by Airsense Analytics, Schwering, Germany; EOS835 and EOS507C by Sacmi, Imola, Italy) have been applied successfully to distinguish infected material in a variety of pathological systems (fungal rots on kiwifruit and *Erwinia amylovora* on apple and pear plants, *Ralstonia solanacearum* or *Clavibacter michiganensis ssp.*, and *Sepedonicus* on potato tubers) (Cellini *et al.*, 2017). Researchers have demonstrated that pear trees infected with fire blight can be detected successfully in the early stages of infection using EN with MOS sensors (Cui *et al.*, 2018).

EN was also used to detect Lethal Bronzing Disease (LB) at different stages in infected cabbage palms (*Sabal palmetto*) using an array of eight MQ sensors (*i.e.* type of MOS gas sensors) (Oates *et al.*, 2020).

EN as well as other devices that rely on electronic language (*i.e.* tongue and eye) are considered in the incorporation into the input management system for the classification of complex systems like water and food samples (Fernandez-Lopez *et al.*, 2021).

2.4.3 EN advantages and limitations

EN technology has several advantages when compared to traditional methods. It is inexpensive, does not need specialists, provides high throughput detection, is rapid and has a small size. The most common types of EN obtainable on the market are metal oxide semiconductors (MOS), which have many advantages as the susceptibility to a wide range of several chemicals, rapid response and prolonged sensor life. They are also cheap, firm, and semi-selective. However, they also have a few limitations, commonly sensitive to toxicity and

moisture, high energy consumption, limited coating range and promoted sensor drift (Sanaeifar *et al.*, 2017; Abu-Khalaf, 2021).

2.4.4 EN data analysis and pattern recognition

The generated signals from EN need to be analyzed to reveal the right obtained signals. Therefore, MVDA represents a significant interpretation to reach beneficial and meaningful results. MVDA program includes a wide range of recognition and regression techniques (Abu-Khalaf *et al.*, 2004; Abu-Khalaf and Bennedsen, 2002; Abu-Khalaf and Abu Rumaila, 2020).

Numerous supervised and unsupervised techniques can be used as a recognition pattern for analyzing EN signals. However, they generally use a concerted strategy of four basic steps: the first one is calibration, which uses a set of samples for parameters optimization according to the analysis aims of the available sensor (s) and the multivariate statistical method (s) of choice. In general, an unprocessed sample before any change can be used as a reference (Park et al., 2019; Rahman et al., 2020). The second step is variable selection, which includes selecting the variables that contain beneficial information and removing the variables that encode noise or have no discriminatory power. Moreover, the selected variables are based on validated analytical methods, and the data set should be large enough to consider the natural variables in the problem domain (Concina et al., 2009; Park et al., 2019; Rahman et al., 2020). The third step is to choose statistical models, by building a statistical mathematical model that is capable of describing the characteristic(s) of samples related to the selected variables, such as principal component analysis (PCA), hierarchical cluster analysis (CA), partial least squares (PLS), linear discrimination analysis (LDA), partial least squares-discriminant analysis (PLS-DA), and artificial neural networks (ANN). The fourth step is model validation and reliability by estimating the model's recognition and prediction capabilities using an independent set of samples (Marei *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2008; Abu-Khalaf and Hmidat, 2020; Najjar, 2020).

2.4.5 Principal component analysis (PCA)

PCA is considered the most popular technique for MVDA. It analyzes the statistical data in which observations are described by several variables based on nested quantities (Mishra *et al.*, 2017; Abu-Khalaf, 2019; Zaid *et al.*, 2022). The goal of PCA is to recognize the most significant basis for the re-expression of a given data set. For more explanation, PCA extracts the significant information (X matrix) from the observations and reduces the noise, then computing new linear uncorrelated variables called principal components (Kurita *et al.*, 2019; Najjar and Abu-Khalaf, 2021), which are obtained by Equation 1 (Ruiz *et al.*, 2015)

Equation 1: The principal components obtained equation. T: is the projected matrix to the principal component space (scores matrix), P: is the principal component of the data set (loading matrix) and E: is the residual error matrix.

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{T}} + \mathbf{E}$$

Only a few numbers of PCs are kept in the analysis, where PC1 represents the maximum possible percentage of the total variance in the data set and PC2 represents the maximum residual variance, and so on. PCA can be demonstrated by a scores plot, which explains the relationships between variables, and a loading plot, which emphasize the relationships between variables (Abu-Khalaf *et al.*, 2013; Abu-Khalaf and Masoud, 2022). An example of principal component analysis (PCA) of EN data is shown in Figure 5, where the scores plot explains 98% of the total variance and different groups are identified (Park *et al.*, 2019).


Figure 5: An example of principal component analysis (PCA) for EN data (Park et al., 2019).

Chapter Three: Materials and Methods

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Fungal method

3.1.1 Media preparation

Based on the manufacturer's instructions provided on the bottle (DIFCO Laboratories, USA) (Cat #254920), Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA) medium was prepared by dissolving 19.5 g of PDA powder in 500 ml of distilled water (DW). The solution was sterilized with an autoclaving program of 121°C and 15 psi for one hr. After that, the purified solution was cooled enough to be poured into 9 cm sterilized Petri dishes, in which the process was done under sterilized conditions on a microbiological safety cabinet (MN 120). Finally, the media were stored in a refrigerator at 4°C for the cultivation purposes of *C. coccodes* isolate.

3.1.2 Isolation and identification of the fungi

Samples of tomatoes infected with anthracnose were collected from Qalqilya farms (Figure 6). A small portion of the rotted area was placed on fresh PDA media and incubated at 28°C for 72 hr under fluorescence light. After several cultivations of the growing colonies, a pure fungal isolate was obtained. The *C. coccodes* fungus was subcultured on fresh PDA media every two weeks.



Figure 6: Some tomato samples infected with *C. coccodes*.

3.1.3 Morphological identification

The main morphological features for identifying the *C. coccodes* are the shape of conidiomata and appressoria (Cano *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, a microscopic slide of the fungus' conidiomata and appressoria was prepared and observed under the light microscope (Labomed, USA) (Cat # PN: 9135000-901). After that, the images were captured with an Aiptek HD 1080P digital camera (Aiptek International GmbH, Germany).

3.1.4 Molecular identification

3.1.4.1 Fungal DNA extraction

The DNA extraction from pure fresh colonies was applied using Promega Wizard[™] Genomic DNA Purification kit (Cat# A1120), where about 100 mg of

pure fungus' isolate was added to 1 ml of autoclaved DW in a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, then centrifuged for 2 min at 10000 rpm. After discarding the resulted supernatant, 600 μ l of nuclei lysis buffer was added to the cell pellet and gently mixed. later, the microtube was vortexed vigorously at high speed for 20 sec. The sample was incubated at 65°C for 15 min, and 3 µl of RNAs was added, then vortexed again. Afterward, the sample was at 37°C for 15 min, left to rest for 5 min at room temperature, and 200 µl of protein precipitation solution was added to the tube with vigorous vortexing. The tube was centrifuged for 3 min at 10000 rpm, supernatant (with DNA) was transferred to a clean 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube containing 600 µl of room temperature isopropanol, and gently mixed to be centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 1 min. The next step was to decant the supernatant carefully and drying on a clean absorbent paper. Then, 600 µl of room temperature 70% ethanol was added and gently mixed to wash the DNA pellet, centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 1 min, the ethanol was carefully aspirated, and the tube was drained and air-dried for 15 min. After that, 100 µl of DNA rehydration solution was added to the tube. In the end, the DNA was rehydrated by incubating the solution overnight at room temperature or 4°C. After checking the DNA by gel electrophoresis, it was kept at -20°C for further use (Han et al., 2015).

3.1.4.2 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Three different primer sets were used for the identification of *C. coccodes* (Table 1). The first primer set was ITS1F/ITS4, which was used to amplify the DNA of most *Ascomycetes* and *Basidiomycetes* (Belov *et al.*, 2018). The other two primer sets are Cc1F1/Cc2R1 and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1. Where, Cc1F1/Cc2R1 was a genus-specific outer primer set that is specific to *Colletotrichum* spp., amplified a single product of 447 bp. Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1 was a species-specific

nested primer set that is unique to *C. coccodes*, amplified a single product of 349 bp (Cullen *et al.*, 2002).

First of all, DNase-free water was added to primers to obtain a final 100 μ M concentration according to their molecular weight. For each primer set, the PCR was achieved in a 25 μ l reaction volume. Each reaction mixture contained 11 μ l of 2X GoTaqVR Green Master Mix (Promega Corporation, USA) (Cat # M7128), 1.5 μ l of MgCl₂, 0.2 μ l of each primer in each set, 1 μ l of the DNA and 11.1 μ l of ultra-pure DNase free water (Biological Industries, Cat # P119A, USA). PCR reagents with 1 μ l dH₂O (instead of DNA) were used as negative controls. For nested PCR, 1 μ l of the first-round PCR product was used. The PCR products of the ITS1F/ITS4 primer set were sent for sequencing at Bethlehem University/Palestine. The sequence identification was carried out by BLASTn Analysis Database (NCBI).

3.1.4.3 The PCR amplification program

The amplification program with ITS1F/ITS4 set was carried out using VertiTM 96 well thermal cycler: Cat # 4375786 (Applied Biosystems Company, California, USA), with the following PCR program: initial denaturation cycle for 3 min at 94°C, then 30 cycles for 30 sec at 94°C, annealing for 30 sec at 54°C, followed with elongation for 45 sec at 72°C and the final cycle for 5 min at 72°C.

For nested PCR a two-step amplification program was performed using VertiTM 96 well thermal cycler: Cat # 4375786 (Applied Biosystems Company, California, USA), in which the single-round PCR with Cc1F1/Cc2R1 primer set included an initial denaturation cycle at 95°C for 2 min, 35 cycles for 45 sec at 95°C, annealing for 1 min at 61°C followed by extension for 90 sec at 72°C and a final cycle for 5 min at 72°C. The second-round PCR with Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1

primer set, involved an initial denaturation cycle at 95°C for 2 min, 35 cycles for 45 sec at 95°C, annealing for 45 sec at 72°C followed by extension for 90 sec at 72°C and the final cycle for 5 min at 72°C.

Primer	Sequences (5-3)	Band size (bp)	Annealing temperature (°C)	Reference
ITS1F ITS4	CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGT AA TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC	400	54	Belov <i>et al.</i> , 2018
Cc1F1 Cc2R1	ACCTAACTGTTGCTTCGGCG AAATTTGGGGGGTTTTACGGC	447	61	Cullen <i>et al</i> ., 2002
Cc1NF1 Cc2NR1	TGCCGCCTGCGGACCCCCCT GGCTCCGAGAGGGTCCGCCA	349	72	Cullen <i>et al.</i> , 2002

Table 1: List of primer sets used for *C. coccodes* identification.

3.1.4.4 Gel electrophoresis for extracted DNA

Agarose gel of 1% concentration was prepared to run the extracted DNA, which was prepared by dissolving 1 g agarose powder in 100 ml of 0.5 X Trisborate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA-TBE) buffer with heating, then cooled at room temperature. A 1.5 μ L of 10000x gel red DNA stain (Cat # 41003) was added and poured into a tray (20*20 cm) of the Submarine Horizontal type electrophoresis system. After that, 5 μ l of the DNA with 2 μ l of blue orange loading dye 6x (Cat # 25223004) were mixed and loaded into the well of the gel, in addition to 3 μ l of 1 kilobase-pairs (kbp) plus ladder (Cat # DM001-R500). After running the device for 30 min at 70 volts, the results were visualized and

recorded using an ultraviolet (UV) illuminator device (Uvitec, Cat # 1210234, Cambridge) and a gel documentation system.

3.1.4.5 Gel electrophoresis for PCR products

Agarose gel of 1.5% concentration was prepared by dissolving 1.5 g of agarose powder in 100 ml of TBE buffer with heat using the microwave. Followed by the addition of 1.5 μ l of 1000x gel red and pouring of the mix into 20*20 cm of the Submarine Horizontal type tray. After that, 7 μ l of PCR product was loaded, in addition to 3 μ l of 1 kilobase- pairs (kbp) plus ladder (Cat # DM001-R500). After running the device for 1 h, the resulted bands were viewed and recorded using a UV illuminator device (Uvitec, Cat # 1210234, Cambridge) and a gel documentation system.

3.2 Prepare the *C.coccodes* suspension and tomato infection

The conidial suspension was prepared from seven days-old cultures of *C*. *Coccodes* according to Rodriguez-Salamanca *et al.* (2018), in which the culture was immersed with 1.0 ml of sterile double-distilled water (DDW) containing 0.001% tween 80. Conidia were harvested by gently scratching the surface with a sterile glass rod. Three layers of sterile cheesecloth were used for conidial suspension filtration. Then the conidial concentration was adjusted to $30*10^3$ /ml concentration under the optical microscope using a hemocytometer. Second and third adjustments were made to attain $30*10^4$ and $30*10^5$ conidia/ml concentrations. The conidial suspensions were kept to be used for inoculating tomato samples.

3.3 Tomato samples sterilization and injection

Sterilization and injection of tomato samples were applied as described by Jones *et al.* (2002) and Ben-Daniel *et al.* (2009). The collected tomato fruits were

surface sterilized with 3% sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) for 10 min, washed completely with sterile DW, and left in a laminar hood to dry at room temperature. Then, the tomato samples (each sample had a replicate) were inoculated with the conidial suspension by wounding to a depth of 2-3 mm and injecting 10 μ l of the suspension at four points around the longitudinal axis using a sterile needle. Samples injected with sterile DW were used as controls.

3.4 Storage condition

Samples were examined every 2 days until the 10th day using the EN device. The samples were labeled and stored in an incubator for 10 days under continued fluorescent light and 28°C temperature (Figure 7) (Hong and Hwang, 1998; Aqeel *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 7: Tomato samples stored in an incubator; under fluorescent light and at 28°C.

3.5 EN measurement

A prototype EN with eight metal-oxide semiconductors (MOSs) (Hanwei Electronics Co., Ltd., Zhengzhou, China) was used for the measurement of tomato samples (Figure 8). The specification of the MOS is found in Table 2 (Abu-

Khalaf, 2021). Each tomato sample was inserted inside a homemade box for about 3 min and then tested in triplicates. The steps for measuring samples by EN are shown in Figure 9.



Figure 8: A prototype electronic nose (EN) with eight metal-oxide semiconductors (MOS) sensors.



Samples were kept under controlled conditions in an incubator at 28°C

The samples were put in wooden box for measurement







Raw data obtained for further processing by MVDA

Figure 9: Steps for measuring samples (A-D) using electronic nose (EN).

Table 2: Metal-oxide sensors (MOSs) specifications used in electronic nose (Abu-Khalaf, 2021).

Sensor	Target Gas	Typical Detection Ranges (ppm)	
Name	Sensitivity		
		200–5000 liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)	
		and propane,	
MO_2	General combustible	300–5000 butane, 5000–20,000 methane, 300–5000 hydrogen (H ₂),	
WIQ-2	gas		
		100–2000 Alcohol.	
MQ-3	Alcohol vapor	10–300.	
MO-4	Natural gas and	200–10,000 CH ₄ , natural gas.	
MQ T	methane		
	IPG natural gas and	200–10,000 LPG, liquefied natural gas	
MQ-5	coal gas	(LNG), natural gas, iso-butane, propane,	
	coal gas	and town gas.	
MO-6	LPG, propane	200-10,000 LPG, iso-butane, propane,	
mg o		LNG.	
MQ-8	Hydrogen	100–10,000.	
	Air quality control		
MQ-135	(NH ₃ , benzene,	10–10,000.	
	alcohol, smoke)		
	Formaldehyde,	10–1000 benzene, 1–1000 alcohol, 10– 3000 NH ₃ .	
MQ-138	benzene, aldehyde,		
	ketone and ester		

3.6 EN data analysis

Unscrambler (version 10.3, Camo Software AS, Oslo, Norway), a multivariate data analysis (MVDA) program, was used for EN data analysis.

3.7 PCA analysis

To study the ability of the EN device to differentiate between infected samples and control samples at the different stages of *C.coccodes* fungal growth, PCA models for the measured EN signal values were implemented.

Chapter Four: Results and Discussion

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Identification of *C.coccodes* fungus

4.1.1 Morphological identification

The results obtained from the morphological identification of *C.coccodes* are shown in

Figure 10. The conidia were straight; fusiform; with acute ends and are often slightly constricted in the middle. The appressoria (thick-walled swellings at the end of a hypha) were abundant, ellipsoidal, irregularly lobed or irregularly curved, borne on vitreous supporting filaments, thin walled supporting hyphae, with a changing shape (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Morphological characteristics of *C. coccodes*. A: The conidia shape under the light microscope with 40X. B: The appressoria shape under the light microscope with 40X.

Colonies on PDA are circular, initially white and becoming gray with age, forming black spots on agar, have white, cottony mycelia without visible conidia

masses, weak sporulation and white to pale yellow inverted (Figure 11). These results are similar to many studies that identified *C. coccodes* previously according to the shape of conidiomata and appressoria (Cano *et al.*, 2004; Cannon *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 11: Pure *C.coccodes* fungus on PDA media. A: The front view. B: The reverse view.

4.1.2 Molecular identification using a PCR

4.1.2.1 Total DNA extraction

The total DNA extracted from the sample cultures is shown in Figure 12 using the Promega Wizard[™] Genomic DNA Purification Kit. The results exhibited the existence of an amount of DNA in the isolated samples.



Figure 12: Gel electrophoresis documented photos of total DNA isolated from three suspected *C. coccodes* fungal isolates. Where lanes from 1-3 represent replicate of the isolated fungi, -ve is a negative control. M is a 1 Kbp plus ladder as a molecular size marker.

4.1.2.2 Primers used in *C. coccodes* detection

The results from the three different primer sets (ITS1F/ITS4, Cc1F1/Cc2R1 and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1) indicated high specificity in *C. coccodes* detection. The result with the primer set ITS1F/ITS4 indicated the presence of either *Ascomycetes* or *Basidiomycetes* isolates among the three tested samples, where isolates one and two showed a positive result for either of these fungal types with a band of approximately 400 bp (Figure 13) as confirmed by Ayad *et al.* (2017).



Figure 13: Gel electrophoresis documented photos of the PCR product used for the ITS1F/ITS4 primer set. Where lanes from lanes 1 and 2 are a positive result for *Askomycetes*, lane 3 is a negative result and lane 4 is a negative control. M is a 100 bp ladder as a molecular size marker.

The primer set Cc1F1/Cc2R1 is specific to *Colletotrichum* spp., which resulted in aband of the 447 bp fragment. The result in Figure 14 indicates that the two isolated fungal products belong to *Colletotrichum* spp. In addition, the result of primer set Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1, which is unique to *C. coccodes*, generated

a 345 bp fragment indicating a positive result for *C. coccodes* (Figure 14) (Cullen *et al.*, 2002). The sequence identification was carried out by BLASTn Analysis Database (NCBI), where the similarity for the *C. coccode* isolate sequence identification was 89% as shown in Figure 15. The percentage may be low due to contamination from the isolation method, but the genus-specific primers that were used solved this problem. These results are consistent with several previous studies (Cullen *et al.*, 2002; Martinez-Culebras *et al.*, 2003; Ayad *et al.*, 2017; Belov *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 14: Gel electrophoresis documented photos for the PCR products using the two specific primer sets (Cc1F1/Cc2R1, Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1). Where lane 1 is a band with Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1 primer set, lane 2 is a negative control for Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1, lane 3 is a band with Cc1F1/Cc2R1 specific primer set, and lane 4 is a negative control for Cc1F1/Cc2R1. M is a 1 Kbp ladder as a molecular size marker.

▲ Download ➤ GenBank Graphics

▼ <u>Next</u> ▲ <u>Previous</u> ≪ <u>Descriptions</u>

Colletotrichum coccodes 5.8S rRNA gene, internal transcribed spacer 1 (ITS1) and internal transcribed spacer 2 (ITS2), strain IMI 363581

Sequence ID: AJ536227.1 Length: 482 Number of Matches: 1



Figure 15: BLASTn similarity for the *C.coccode* isolate sequence identification.

4.1.3 PCA analysis

PCA scores plot of the second day of injection with *C. coccode* fungus is shown in Figure 16. Two principal components (PCs) explained 100% of the total variance. The first principal component (PC-1) explained 98% of the total variance and the second PC-2 explained 2%. While on the fourth day of injection, the PC-1 explained 97% and the PC-2 explained 3% of the total variance, but the separation distance between the control and the sample values in the PCA scores plot of the fourth day did not change much compared to the second day as shown in Figure 17. In these two PCAs, the results showed the ability of EN to differentiate between the infected sample and the control. Although the symptoms were not obvious to the naked eye at this point.



Figure 16: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the second day of infection using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance.



Figure 17: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the fourth day of infection using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance.

On the sixth day of injection, the PCA scores plot (Figure 18) showed that the PC-1 explained 99% and the PC-2 explained 1% of the total variance. This provides 100% of the total variance. The result of this PCA showed that EN discriminates between the control and the infected samples. Where at this point (*i.e.* 6 day) the symptoms start to become visible after inoculation (Tsitsigiannis *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 18: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the sixth day of infection using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance.

On both the eighth and tenth days the PC-1 explained 100% of the total variation. This indicates that the two PCAs were able to fully classify between infected and control samples, as shown in Figure 19 and Figure 20.

Figure 21 shows the overall PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C. coccodes* using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance. The separation distance between the values of the control and the infected samples began to increase. While the distance between the values on the second and fourth days has some overlapping. The concentration of infected samples can be clearly differentiated on the eighth and tenth days. These results indicate that the EN has the potential to differentiate between the different stages of tomato infected with *C.coccodes*.



Figure 19: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the eighth day of infection using electronic nose (EN). PC-1 explained 100% of the total variance.



Figure 20: PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C.coccodes* on the tenth day of infection using electronic nose (EN). PC-1 explained 100% of the total variance.



Figure 21: The overall PCA scores plot for measured infected tomato samples with *C. coccodes* using electronic nose (EN). The two PCs explained 100% of the total variance. Where the values of the second and fourth days have some overlapping, and the other values on the sixth, eighth and tenth days are completely separated.

The factor responsible for anthracnose symptoms caused by C. *coccodes* is triggered by ammonia secretion and accumulation along with other VOCs during the infection period (Palaniyandi *et al.*, 2013). This explains the ability of the EN with its MOS sensors to sense the presence of the *C. coccodes* on the second day of infection and to distinguish between the different stages of infection. These PCA results are in agreement with several previous studies (Ghaffari *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2011; Cheng *et al.*, 2017; Verma *et al.*, 2018; Oates *et al.*, 2020). For example, Zhang *et al.* (2011) used EN to estimate the chemical and physical properties of pear. In addition, EN was used in the prediction of the presence of the food spoilage yeast *Debaryomyces hansenii* by MVDA (Masoud *et al.*, 2021).

Another study used EN based on MOS in the detection of the type and concentration of VOCs to determine the stage of crop diseases and insect pests (Zheng and Zhang, 2022). Biondi *et al.* (2014) used EN to detect potatoes infected with *Ralstonia solanacearum* which causes potato brown rot and used PCA to analyze samples.

Wheat from five storage ages with 15 degrees of insect damage was assessed and classified using PEN2-EN, which consists of 10 MOS sensors that were used to create a typical chemical fingerprint of VOCs present in the samples. Wheat samples were classified into five groups of wheat of different storage ages and 15 groups of different grades of insect-damaged wheat using PCA and LDA. These results indicated the ability of EN to distinguish between wheat of different ages and different degrees of insect damage (Zhang and Wang, 2007).

EN with MOS and its rGO-catalyzed compounds (Pd, Pt, Au) with nanorods/nanowires morphology are found to have excellent sensing properties

43

of NO2 gas, which is used in monitoring environmental NO2 and its effect on plant ecosystem (Tyagi *et al.*, 2022).

EN was used as a rapid method for early detection and classification of fungal infection on garlic that has been synthetically infected with *Fusariumoxysporum* f. sp. Cepae (FU), Alternariaembellisia (syn. Embellisiaallii) (AL), and Botrytis allii (BO). Where the aroma profile obtained by EN was analyzed using PCA, LDA and other MVDA techniques (Makarichian et al., 2022).

A conductive polymer gas sensor array was used to detect and classify blueberries infected with gray mold (*Botrytis cinerea*), anthracnose (*Collecotrichum gloeosporioides*) and Alternaria mold (*Alternaria spp.*), which are common post-harvest fungal pathogens. The data analysis was achieved using PCA. This study emphasize the potential feasibility of using a gas sensor array to assess post-harvest blueberry quality and detect fungal diseases (Li *et al.*, 2009). Chapter Five: Conclusion and Recommendations

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study highlighted the efficiency of the portable EN device in identifying the *C. coccode* fungus and distinguishing between its different stages since the beginning of the disease. Therefore, it could be used as an alarm system in the field and in food storage. Several conclusions can be drawn from previous work:

1. Specific primers (*i.e.* ITS1F/ITS4, Cc1F1/Cc2R1, and Cc1NF1/Cc2NR1) could recognize *C. coccode* fungus using the PCR technology and sequencing.

2. The EN device was able to sense the *C. coccode* fungus in early-stage on tomato fruits, *i.e.* the second day.

3. The EN device was able to differentiate between the different stages of *C. coccodes* in tomatoes using EN.

5.2 Recommendations

1. In perspective, EN analysis on plant fruits could be used to aid other diagnostic techniques, such as PCR-based techniques, to provide a fast examination of samples and improve time and resource adherence in pathogens detection.

2. EN sensors could be used to aid in quality control of plant disease and detecting insect pests.

3. Improved data processing and analysis capabilities will increase the chance of providing diagnosis with higher efficiency and greater accuracy in the EN system for the detection of plant pathogens.

4. To enhance the performance of the sensor, the selectivity and sensitivity of the sensors can be improved by using nanostructured surfaces and a metal-organic framework, which can reduce the sensitivity of the sensor to external influences. In addition to using other sensors in the EN device and replacing some of the existing ones. الملخص : Chapter Six

الكشف عن فطر Colletotrichum coccodes المسبب لعفن الفاكهة (anthracnose) في البندورة باستخدام الأنف الإلكتروني

الملخص

يعد الفطر (Colletotrichum coccodes) من أكثر عزلات Colletotrichum التي يصعب السيطرة عليها. بمجرد إصابة البندورة بالفطر المذكور ، يتطور مرض عفن الفاكهة (anthracnose) في غضون أيام قليلة. لذلك فإن الكشف المبكر عن العدوى الفطرية أمر حيوي للوقاية الناجحة والعلاج الفعال للحقول المصابة. هدفت هذه الدراسة إلى استخدام الأنف الإلكتروني (EN) مع مستشعرات أكسيد المعادن (MOS) لاستشعار وجود فطر C. coccodes على ثمار البندورة في مراحل وتركيزات مختلفة.

حيث بدأت الدراسة بتحديد هوية C. coccodes باستخدام تفاعل البوليميراز المتسلسل (PCR)، وتم التعرف على فطر TIS1F / ITS4 باستخدام ثلاثة برايمارات مختلفة ITS1F / ITS4 و Cc1F1 / Cc2R1 و Cc1NF1 / Cc2NR1 عبارة عن محدد عام لمعظم فطريات Ascomycetes و Basidiomycetes، كانت المجموعة Cc1F1 / Cc2R1 عبارة عن محدد أساسي لفطر . *Colletotrichum* spp، كانت المجموعة 447 عادة نيتروجينية، وكان Cc2NR1 محددا أساسيا وفريدًا لفطر Cc2NR1 ما ينتج عنه ناتج بحجم تقريبي 349 قاعدة نيتروجينية. بالإضافة إلى ذلك، تم حقن ثلاثة عينات بندورة متجانسة بثلاثة تراكيز مختلفة (30 * 10³، 30 * 10⁴، 30 * 10⁵) من المعلق الفطري، وثلاثة عينات بندورة . أخر سليمة استخدمت لمعايرة الجهاز، وتم قياسها جميعًا باستخدام جهاز EN كل يومين لمدة عشرة أيام.

تم تحليل البيانات التي تم الحصول عليها من مستشعرات EN باستخدام تحليل المكون الرئيسي (PCA). حيث وجد أن جهاز EN يمكن أن يستشعر حدوث مسببات الأمراض في المراحل المبكرة، أي بعد يومين من الإصابة، وقبل ظهور أي أعراض، حيث أوضح تحليل المكون الرئيسي 100٪ من التباين الكلي. بالإضافة إلى ذلك، أوضح تحليل المكون الرئيسي الإجمالي 100٪ من التباين الكلي الذي يشير إلى قدرة EN على التفريق بين المراحل المختلفة من مدة الإصابة (أي اليوم الثاني والرابع والسادس والثامن والثامن والعاشر.

Chapter Seven: References

References

- Abu-Khalaf, N. (2021). Identification and quantification of olive oil quality parameters using an electronic nose. *Agriculture*, *11*, 674-682.
- Abu-Khalaf, N. and Abu Rumaila, B. (2020). Electronic tongue and box-PCR for categorization of different Fusarium strains. *Plant Cell Biotechnology and Molecular Biology*, 121-128.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., and Bennedsen, B. S. (2002). Sensing taste attributes of plums using near infrared (NIR) reflectance spectroscopy. In *Physical Methods in Agriculture* (pp. 429-439). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., and Bennedsen, B. S. (2004). Near infrared (NIR) technology and multivariate data analysis for sensing taste attributes of apples. *International Agrophysics*, 18(3), 99-104.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., and Haselmann, K. F. (2012). Characterization of Odorants in an Air Wet Scrubber Using Direct Aqueous Injection-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (DAI-GC-MS) and Solid Phase Extraction (SPE-GC). *American Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 2(3), 58-68.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., and Hmidat, M. (2020). Visible/Near Infrared (VIS/NIR) spectroscopy as an optical sensor for evaluating olive oil quality. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *173*, 105445.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., and Masoud, W. (2022). Electronic Nose for Differentiation and Quantification of Yeast Species in White Fresh Soft Cheese. Applied Bionics and Biomechanics, 2022, 8472661.

- Abu-Khalaf, N., Bennedsen, B. S., and Bjørn, G. K. (2004). Distinguishing carrot's characteristics by near infrared (NIR) reflectance and multivariate data analysis. Agricultural Engineering International: *CIGR Journal. 125*, 311-317
- Abu-Khalaf, N., Khayat, S., and Natsheh, B. (2013). Multivariate data analysis to identify the groundwater pollution sources in Tulkarm area/Palestine. *Science and Technology*, 3(4), 99-104.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., Zaid, A. N., Jaradat, N., AlKilany, A. M., Abu Rumaila, B., Al Ramahi, R., ... and Surakhi, N. (2018). The taste of commercially available clarithromycin oral pharmaceutical suspensions in the palestinian market: electronic tongue and in vivo evaluation. *Sensors*, 18(2), 454.
- Abu-Khalaf, N., Zaid, A. N., Jaradat, N., Alkilany, A. M., Abulateefeh, S. R., Al-Ramahi, R., and Ghanem, M. (2019). Identification of substandard drug products using electronic tongue: cefdinir suspension as a pilot example. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy, 13*, 3249-3260.
- Alkan, N., Davydov, O., Sagi, M., Fluhr, R., and Prusky, D. (2009). Ammonium secretion by Colletotrichum coccodes activates host NADPH oxidase activity enhancing host cell death and fungal virulence in tomato fruits. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 22, 1484-1491.
- Alkowni, R., Alabdallah, O., and Fadda, Z. (2019). Molecular identification of tomato brown rugose fruit virus in tomato in Palestine. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 101, 719-723.
- Al-Mahasneh, M., Al-U'datt, M., Rababah, T., Al-Widyan, M., Abu Kaeed, A., Al-Mahasneh, A. J., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2021). Classification and
Prediction of Bee Honey Indirect Adulteration Using Physiochemical Properties Coupled with K-Means Clustering and Simulated Annealing-Artificial Neural Networks (SA-ANNs). *Journal of Food Quality*, 2021, 99-104.

- Al-Ramahi R, Zaid, A. N., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2019). Evaluating the potential use of electronic tongue in early identification and diagnosis of bacterial infections. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, *12*, 2445.
- Al-Tardeh, S. and Iraki, N. (2013). Morphological and anatomical responses of two Palestinian tomato (Solanum lycopersicon L.) cultivars to salinity during seed germination and early growth stages. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 12, 4788-4797.
- Aqeel, A. M., Pasche, J. S., and Gudmestad, N. C. (2008). Variability in morphology and aggressiveness among North American vegetative compatibility groups of Colletotrichum coccodes. *Phytopathology*, 98, 901-909.
- Ayad, D., Aribi, D., Hamon, B., Kedad, A., Simoneau, P., and Bouznad, Z. (2017). New data on early blight of potato and tomato caused by a complex of large-spored Alternaria species in Algeria. In *Proceedings of the Sixteenth EuroBlight Workshop* (pp. 14-17).
- Belov, G. L., Belosokhov, A. F., Kutuzova, I. A., Statsyuk, N. V., Chudinova, E. M., Alexandrova, A. V. *et al.* (2018). Colletotrichum coccodes in potato and tomato leaves in Russia. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, *125*, 311-317.

- Ben-Daniel, B., Bar-Zvi, D., and Tsror, L. (2009). An improved large-scale screening method for assessment of Colletotrichum coccodes aggressiveness using mature green tomatoes. *Plant Pathology*, 58, 497-503.
- Biondi, E., Blasioli, S., Galeone, A., Spinelli, F., Cellini, A., Lucchese, C., and Braschi, I. (2014). Detection of potato brown rot and ring rot by electronic nose: From laboratory to real scale. *Talanta*, 129, 422-430.
- Buja, I., Sabella, E., Monteduro, A. G., Chiriaco, M. S., De Bellis, L., Luvisi, A. et al. (2021). Advances in plant disease detection and monitoring: From traditional assays to in-field diagnostics. Sensors, 21, 2129-2138.
- Cannon, P. F., Damm, U., Johnston, P. R., and Weir, B. S. (2007). Collectotrichumcurrent status and future directions. *Studies in Mycology*, *59*, 129-145.
- Cano, J., Guarro, J., and Gene, J. (2004). Molecular and morphological identification of Colletotrichum species of clinical interest. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *42*, 2450-2454.
- Cellini, A., Biondi, E., Blasioli, S., Rocchi, L., Farneti, B., Braschi, I. *et al.* (2016).
 Early detection of bacterial diseases in apple plants by analysis of volatile organic compounds profiles and use of electronic nose. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *168*, 409-420.
- Cellini, A., Blasioli, S., Biondi, E., Bertaccini, A., Braschi, I., and Spinelli, F. (2017). Potential applications and limitations of electronic nose devices for plant disease diagnosis. *Sensors*, 17, 2596-2615.

- Cheng, S. M., Wang, J., Wang, Y. W., and Wei, Z. B. (2017). Discrimination of different types damage of tomato seedling by electronic nose. In *ITM Web* of Conferences (Vol. 11, p. 01019). EDP Sciences.
- Concina, I., Falasconi, M., Gobbi, E., Bianchi, F., Musci, M., Mattarozzi, M. *et al.* (2009). Early detection of microbial contamination in processed tomatoes by electronic nose. *Food Control*, 20, 873-880.
- Cui, S., Ling, P., Zhu, H., and Keener, H. M. (2018). Plant pest detection using an artificial nose system: a review. *Sensors*, *18*, 378-385.
- Cullen, D. W., Lees, A. K., Toth, I. K., and Duncan, J. (2002). Detection of Collectrichum coccodes from soil and potato tubers by conventional and quantitative real-time PCR. *Plant Pathology*, *51*, 281-292.
- Dauch, A. L. (2006). Velvetleaf-Colletotrichum coccodes pathosystem: molecular monitoring of the pathogen and gene expression analysis during plant pathogen interaction. *Plant Pathology*, 17, 2596-2615.
- Dauch, A. L., Watson, A. K., and Jabaji-Hare, S. H. (2003). Detection of the biocontrol agent Colletotrichum coccodes (183088) from the target weed velvetleaf and from soil by strain-specific PCR markers. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 55, 51-64.
- Dean, R., Van Kan, J. A., Pretorius, Z. A., Hammond-Kosack, K. E., Di Pietro, A., Spanu, P. D. *et al.* (2012). The Top 10 fungal pathogens in molecular plant pathology. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 13, 414-430.
- Ewen, R. J., Jones, P. R., Ratcliffe, N. M., and Spencer-Phillips, P. T. (2004). Identification by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry of the volatile

organic compounds emitted from the wood-rotting fungi Serpula lacrymans and Coniophora puteana, and from Pinus sylvestris timber. *Mycological Research*, *108*, 806-814.

- FAOSTAT. 2019. Available online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC (accessed on 12 September 2021).
- Fernandez-Lopez, A., Ferrández-Villena, M., Oates, M., Cabrera, C., Conesa C., Agustín, R. J., Abu-Khalaf, N., Ruiz-Canales, A. (2021). Use of low-cost electronic nose, tongue and eye for monitoring agri-food processes. *Proceeding of The II University Congress on Food Innovation and Sustainability (CUISA), at The Higher Polytechnic School of Orihuela (EPSO) of the Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Spain, 16-17 September (Abstract in English, Paper in Spanish).*
- Garibyan, L. and Avashia, N. (2013). Research techniques made simple: polymerase chain reaction (PCR). *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 133, e6-e14.
- Ghaffari, R., Zhang, F., Iliescu, D., Hines, E., Leeson, M., Napier, R., and Clarkson, J. (2010). Early detection of diseases in tomato crops: An electronic nose and intelligent systems approach. In *The 2010 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN)* (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Gleason, M. L. and Edmunds, B. A. (2005). *Tomato diseases and disorders*. Iowa State University, University Extension Ames, IA.
- Han, J. H., Shim, H., Shin, J. H., and Kim, K. S. (2015). Antagonistic activities of Bacillus spp. strains isolated from tidal flat sediment towards anthracnose

pathogens Colletotrichum acutatum and C. gloeosporioides in South Korea. *The Plant Pathology Journal*, *31*(2), 165.

- Hong, J. K. and Hwang, B. K. (1998). Influence of inoculum density, wetness duration, plant age, inoculation method, and cultivar resistance on infection of pepper plants by Colletotrichum coccodes. *Plant Disease*, 82, 1079-1083.
- Hsieh, Y. C. and Yao, D. J. (2018). Intelligent gas-sensing systems and their applications. *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, 28, 18-29.
- Ingram, J., Cummings, T. F., and Johnson, D. A. (2011). Response of Colletotrichum coccodes to selected fungicides using a plant inoculation assay and efficacy of azoxystrobin applied by chemigation. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 88, 309-317.
- Jamiolkowska, A., Skwaryło-Bednarz, B., and Patkowska, E. (2018). Morphological identity and population structure of hemibiotrophic fungus *Colletotrichum coccodes* colonizing pepper plants. *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum, Hortorum Cultus, 17*(4), 181-192.
- Jones, R. W. and Prusky, D. (2002). Expression of an antifungal peptide in Saccharomyces: a new approach for biological control of the postharvest disease caused by Colletotrichum coccodes. *Phytopathology*, *92*, 33-37.
- Karakaya, D., Ulucan, O., and Turkan, M. (2020). Electronic nose and its applications: A survey. *International Journal of Automation and Computing*, 17, 179-209.

- Kim, H. J., and Lee, J. H. (2014). Highly sensitive and selective gas sensors using p-type oxide semiconductors: Overview. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 192, 607-627.
- Kim, J. Y., Woon, J. S., Kim, H. J., and Kim, S. H. (2018). Molecular markers for the rapid detection of Colletotrichum coccodes, an anthracnose pathogen of tomato. *The Korean Journal of Mycology*, 46(2), 186-192.
- Lees, A. K., and Hilton, A. J. (2003). Black dot (Colletotrichum coccodes): an increasingly important disease of potato. *Plant Pathology*, *52*(1), 3-12.

Li, C., Krewer, G., and Kays, S. J. (2009). Blueberry postharvest disease detection using an electronic nose. In 2009 Reno, Nevada, June 21-June 24, 2009 (p. 1). American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers.

- Liu, F., Hyde, K. D., and Cai, L. (2011). Neotypification of Colletotrichum coccodes, the causal agent of potato black dot disease and tomato anthracnose. *Mycology*, *2*, 248-254.
- MacDougall, S., Bayansal, F., and Ahmadi, A. (2022). Emerging Methods of Monitoring Volatile Organic Compounds for Detection of Plant Pests and Disease. *Biosensors*, 12(4), 239.
- Makarichian, A., Chayjan, R. A., Ahmadi, E., and Zafari, D. (2022). Early detection and classification of fungal infection in garlic (A. sativum) using electronic nose. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *192*, 106575.
- Martinez-Culebras, P. V., Querol, A., Suarez-Fernandez, M. B., Garcia-Lopez, M. D., and Barrio, E. (2003). Phylogenetic relationships among Collectorichum pathogens of strawberry and design of PCR primers for their identification. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 151(3), 135-143.

Masoud, W., Al-Qaisi, A., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2021). Growth Prediction of the Food Spoilage Yeast Debaryomyces Hansenii using Multivariate Data Analysis. *Palestine Technical University Research Journal*, 9(1), 22–32.

Masri, D., and Alkowni, R. (2021). Tomato spotted wilt disease in Palestine. *An-Najah University Journal for Research-A (Natural Sciences)*, *36*(1), 39-50.

- McCartney, H. A., Foster, S. J., Fraaije, B. A., and Ward, E. (2003). Molecular diagnostics for fungal plant pathogens. *Pest Management Science: Formerly Pesticide Science*, 59, 129-142.
- Mishra, S. P., Sarkar, U., Taraphder, S., Datta, S., Swain, D., Saikhom, R. *et al.* (2017). Multivariate statistical data analysis-principal component analysis (PCA). *International Journal of Livestock Research*, *7*, 60-78.
- Mudalal, S., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2021). Electronic nose to differentiate between several drying techniques for Origanum syriacum leaves. *Food Research*, 5(6), 260-265.
- Mudalal, S., Zaid, A., Abu-Khalaf, N., and Petracci, M. (2020). Predicting the quality traits of white striped turkey breast by visible/near infra-red spectroscopy and multivariate data analysis. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, *19*(1), 676-686.
- Najjar, K. (2020). Sensing Botrytis Cinerea in Tomato Using Visible/Near-Infrared (VIS/NIR) Spectroscopy (Master's thesis, Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie).

- Najjar, K., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2021). Non-destructive quality measurement for three varieties of tomato using VIS/NIR spectroscopy. *Sustainability*, 13(19), 10747.
- Narayanasamy, P. (2011). Detection of fungal pathogens in plants. In. Microbial Plant Pathogens-Detection and Disease Diagnosis. Springer.
- Oates, M. J., Abu-Khalaf, N., Molina-Cabrera, C., Ruiz-Canales, A., Ramos, J., and Bahder, B. W. (2020). Detection of lethal bronzing disease in cabbage palms (Sabal palmetto) using a low-cost electronic nose. *Biosensors, 10*, 188-195.
- O'Neill, N. R., Van Berkum, P., Lin, J. J., Kuo, J., Ude, G. N., Kenworthy, W. *et al.* (1997). Application of amplified restriction fragment length polymorphism for genetic characterization of Collectorrichum pathogens of alfalfa. *Phytopathology*, 87, 745-750.
- Palaniyandi, S. A., Yang, S. H., and Suh, J. W. (2013). Extracellular proteases from S treptomyces phaeopurpureus E x P ro138 inhibit spore adhesion, germination and appressorium formation in Colletotrichum coccodes. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 115(1), 207-217.
- Panno, S., Davino, S., Caruso, A. G., Bertacca, S., Crnogorac, A., Mandic, A. *et al.* (2021). A Review of the Most Common and Economically Important Diseases That Undermine the Cultivation of Tomato Crop in the Mediterranean Basin. *Agronomy*, *11*, 2188-2198.
- Park, S. Y., Kim, Y., Kim, T., Eom, T. H., Kim, S. Y., and Jang, H. W. (2019). Chemoresistive materials for electronic nose: Progress, perspectives, and challenges. *InfoMat*, 1, 289-316.

- Qneibi, M., Jaradat, N., Zaid, A. N., Abu-Khalaf, N., Natsheh, A. R., and Hussen,
 F. M. (2018). evaluation of taste, total phenols and antioxidant for fresh,
 roasted, shade dried and boiled leaves of edible Arum palaestinum Bioss. *Marmara Pharmaceutical Journal*, 22(1), 450-471.
- Rahman, M. S., Afaf, K. E., Al-Attabi, Z., Khan, M. S., Bulushi, I. M. A., Guizani, N. *et al.* (2020). Selected sensor technology innovation in food quality and safety. In *Science and Technology Innovation for a Sustainable Economy* (pp. 59-88). Springer.
- Ray, M., Ray, A., Dash, S., Mishra, A., Achary, K. G., Nayak, S., and Singh, S. (2017). Fungal disease detection in plants: Traditional assays, novel diagnostic techniques and biosensors. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 87, 708-723.
- Rizk, H. (2017). Automated Early Plant Disease Detection and Grading System: Development and Implementation. Master's Thesis, the American University in Cairo.
- Rodriguez-Salamanca, L. M., Naegele, R. P., Quesada-Ocampo, L. M., and Hausbeck, M. K. (2018). Inoculation Method, Temperature, and Relative Humidity Affect Leaf and Neck Anthracnose, a New Onion Disease in Michigan. *Plant Health Progress*, 19(1), 64-68.
- Ruiz, M., Mujica, L. E., Quintero, M., Florez, J., and Quintero, S. (2015).
 Magnetic Flux Leakage and Principal Component Analysis for metal loss approximation in a pipeline. In *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* (Vol. 628, No. 1, p. 012027). IOP Publishing.

- Sanaeifar, A., ZakiDizaji, H., Jafari, A., and de la Guardia, M. (2017). Early detection of contamination and defect in foodstuffs by electronic nose: A review. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 97, 257-271.
- Scala, A., Allmann, S., Mirabella, R., Haring, M. A., and Schuurink, R. C. (2013). Green leaf volatiles: a plant's multifunctional weapon against herbivores and pathogens. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(9), 17781-17811.
- Schrader, C., Schielke, A., Ellerbroek, L., and Johne, R. (2012). PCR inhibitors– occurrence, properties and removal. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 113(5), 1014-1026.
- Sharma, R., Zhou, M., Hunter, M. D., and Fan, X. (2019). Rapid in situ analysis of plant emission for disease diagnosis using a portable gas chromatography device. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 67(26), 7530-7537.
- Spadafora, N. D., Paramithiotis, S., Drosinos, E. H., Cammarisano, L., Rogers, H.
 J., and Müller, C. T. (2016). Detection of Listeria monocytogenes in cut melon fruit using analysis of volatile organic compounds. *Food Microbiology*, 54, 52-59.
- Szulczynski, B., and Gebicki, J. (2017). Currently commercially available chemical sensors employed for detection of volatile organic compounds in outdoor and indoor air. *Environments*, *4*(1), 21.
- Taha, H., and Abu-Khalaf, N. (2020). N. Quality control for herbal medicinal plants using a sensor array (an electronic tongue). In *Proceedings of the 7th*

International Conference of Biotechnology, Environment and Engineering Sciences (ICBE7), Stockholm, Sweden (pp. 25-33).

- Testen, A. L., and Miller, S. A. (2018). Carbon source and soil origin shape soil microbiomes and tomato soilborne pathogen populations during anaerobic soil disinfestation. *Phytobiomes*, 2(3), 138-150.
- Tsitsigiannis, D. I., Antoniou, P. P., Tjamos, S. E., and Paplomatas, E. J. (2008).
 Major diseases of tomato, pepper and egg plant in green houses. *The European Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology*, 2(1), 106-124.
- Tyagi, S., Chaudhary, M., Ambedkar, A. K., Sharma, K., Gautam, Y. K., and Singh, B. P. (2022). Metal Oxide Nanomaterials based sensors for monitoring environmental NO2 and its impact on plant ecosystem: A Review. Sensors & Diagnostics.
- Verma, S., Chug, A., and Singh, A. P. (2018). Prediction models for identification and diagnosis of tomato plant diseases. In 2018 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI) (pp. 1557-1563). IEEE.
- Wilson, A. D. (2018). Applications of electronic-nose technologies for noninvasive early detection of plant, animal and human diseases. *Chemosensors*, 6(4), 45-54.
- Zaid, A. N., Al-Ramahi, R., AlKilany, A., Abu-Khalaf, N., El Kharouf, M., Dayeh, D. A., ... and Yaqoup, M. (2022). Following drug degradation and consequent taste deterioration of an oral reconstituted paediatric suspension during dosing interval via electronic tongue. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal*, 54, 52-59.

- Zaid, A., Abu-Khalaf, N., Mudalal, S., and Petracci, M. (2020). Differentiation between normal and white striped turkey breasts by visible/near infrared spectroscopy and multivariate data analysis. *Food Science of Animal Resources*, 40(1), 96.
- Zhang, H., and Wang, J. (2007). Detection of age and insect damage incurred by wheat, with an electronic nose. *Journal of Stored Products Research*, 43(4), 489-495.
- Zhang, H., Wang, J., and Ye, S. (2008). Predictions of acidity, soluble solids and firmness of pear using electronic nose technique. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 86(3), 370-378.
- Zheng, Z., and Zhang, C. (2022). Electronic noses based on metal oxide semiconductor sensors for detecting crop diseases and insect pests. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 197, 106988.

The End